FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 8/9/2022 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/9/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

NO. ____101149___1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III (COA No. 374483-III)

DALTON M, LLC, a Washington limited liability corporation,

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee; NORTH CASCADE TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.; and DOES 1 through 10 inclusive,

Defendant/Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Appeal from Judgment of the Superior Court of Washington, County of Spokane, Civil Case No. 18-2-00755-5 The Honorable John Cooney

I. INTRODUCTION

This Petition follows an unusual decision from the Washington Court of Appeals Division III ("Division III"), wherein Petitioner successfully appealed a slander of title judgment against it, obtaining reversal of the only claim that supported an \$80,000 fee award against Petitioner; but, in spite of the reversal, Division III ordered that Petitioner remained liable for Respondent's fees. Division III premised this odd result on a novel theory it adopted as a matter of first impression, which was never advanced by the plaintiff at trial or on appeal, and which was premised on a factual finding of bad faith pre-litigation conduct never litigated at trial, determined by the trial court, or even known by Petitioner to be in issue. As discussed below, the Division III Opinion constitutes a troubling departure from understood principles of appellate procedure, conflicts with Washington Supreme Court and Division I precedent in several respects, and raises serious concerns of public import and due process, given Petitioner has never had a meaningful or fair opportunity to either defend itself in a trial on the factual finding made by Division III or respond to the lengthy analysis of cases from across the country that Division III cited to support its decision. Accordingly,

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court review and reverse the Division III ruling below.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, successor in interest to Bank of America, National Association, as Trustee, successor by merger to LaSalle Bank National Association as Trustee for Morgan Stanley Mortgage Loan Trust 2007-1XS Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2007-1XS (the "Trust") is the Petitioner before this Court and was the Defendant-Appellant below. Pursuant to RAP 13.3 and 13.4, the Trust requests this Court accept review of the February 17, 2022 opinion of Division III in *Dalton M, LLC v. N. Cascade Tr. Servs., Inc.*, 20 Wash. App. 2d 914, 504 P.3d 834 (2022) ("Dalton M") (App. 1-64), and also review Division III's July 7, 2022 denial of the Trust's timely motion for reconsideration filed March 9, 2022. (App. 65-66.)

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether this Court should review *Dalton M* to resolve the conflict between Division III's standard for finding a "malicious publication" in slander of title claims with the Washington Supreme Court's precedent on the same standard. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

- 2. Whether this Court should review *Dalton M* to address the propriety of Division III's decision to award attorney fees on a novel theory not litigated at trial and premised on facts not found by the trial court, in an extraordinary departure from understood appellate practice that conflicts with this Court's precedent and raises due process and other concerns of substantial public import. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).
- 3. Whether this Court should review *Dalton M* to address a conflict between *Dalton M* and Washington Supreme Court and Division I precedent regarding the circumstances under which Washington courts will allow attorney fees for prelitigation bad faith conduct. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A detailed statement of the case is set forth in the Trust's Opening Brief before Division III (at 8-26) and supplemented in the Trust's Reply Brief (at 3-17) and March 9, 2022 Motion for Reconsideration (at 1-7). The following offers a concise summary.

A. Dalton M Sues the Trust Following the Inadvertent Foreclosure of a Parcel that Previously Secured the Trust's Lien but was Stripped from the Lien by a Tax Sale

The dispute between the Trust and Dalton M arises out of a 2006 loan ("Loan") for \$536,260, obtained by now-defaulted and uninvolved borrowers. (Ex. D-101 at 2-3.) The loan was secured by a deed of trust that created a lien on two parcels with a shared address in Spokane County, referred to herein as "Parcel 9008" and "Parcel 0402." (Ex. D-101; CP 875 at 7, ¶ D(3).

In 2016, the Loan was in default, and the Trust's loan servicer, Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC ("Ocwen") referred the Loan to an experienced but now-bankrupt foreclosure trustee, North Cascade Trustee Services ("Cascade"), to conduct the sale. (RP 138:1-10; Ex. D-103.) On August 12, 2016, Cascade conducted the non-judicial foreclosure sale ("Cascade's Foreclosure"). (Ex. D-104.) The Trust, who was owner and beneficiary of the Loan at the time, was the winning bidder at the sale. (*Id.*) Accordingly, Cascade prepared, executed, and recorded a Trustee's Deed memorializing the sale of Parcels 9008 and 0402 to the Trust, which was consistent with the language in the deed of trust securing the Trust's loan.

Unbeknownst to the Trust at the time of the referral to Cascade, a tax sale had already taken place in 2011 (the "Tax Sale") on Parcel 0402, prior to the Trust becoming owner and beneficiary of the Loan. (RP 131:22-137:18; CP 875 at 7, ¶ D(1).) The Tax Sale sold Parcel 0402 free and clear of any liens and therefore stripped the Trust's lien from the parcel. (CP 875 at 7, ¶ D(1).) When Cascade conducted the foreclosure, it failed to discover the Tax Sale or foreclose on only the encumbered parcel (Parcel 9004), and therefore recorded a Trustee's Deed that purported to foreclose Parcel 0402, clouding its title.

Parcel 0402 is a 0.31-acre parcel on the Spokane River, undevelopable and undeveloped, except for encroachment by Parcel 9004.¹ Real estate investor Mark Faulkes purchased the property at the Tax Sale for \$9,100.00 (CP 766 ¶ XII; CP 875 at 7, ¶ D(1); RP 65:2-6), aware that the Tax Sale would strip all liens on the Parcel and believing the property worth \$50,000 to \$100,000. (RP 63:10-RP 65:25.) He later transferred the Parcel to Dalton M, a company for which he served as

_

¹ Ex. D-101 at 2-3; CP 875. The property lacks road access and is zoned for rural conservation. *See*

https://cp.spokanecounty.org/scout/map/?PID=26071.0402. *See also* Spokane County Zoning Code, 14.604.250, 14.820.100(1), available at https://www.spokanecounty.org/DocumentCenter/View/19974/Spokane-County-Zoning-Code?bidId=

president. (CP 757 ¶ XXI; CP 875 at 7, ¶ D(2); RP 66:9-22; Ex. P-4.)

When Mr. Faulkes became aware of Cascade's Foreclosure and the cloud on Parcel **0402**, he reached out to Cascade and its now-bankrupt law firm, Robinson Tait, to resolve the issue. In response, Robinson Tait attorneys advised that they represented the Trust and would work with Dalton M to clear title, but were slow to achieve an actual resolution. Dalton M then filed suit against the Trust and Cascade, asserting claims for quiet title, unjust enrichment, violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"), and slander of title. (CP 6-1**0**.)

B. The Trial Court Conducts a Bench Trial and Hears Evidence on the Litigated Facts

During the litigation, Dalton M's CPA claim was dismissed on summary judgment (CP 229); the Trust conceded Dalton M's quiet title claim before trial (CP 875, ¶D(7)); the parties stipulated in a Trial Management Joint Report that the Trustee's Deed transferring title to the Trust should be reformed to remove Parcel 0402 (CP 626; RP 51:13-15; RP 58:17-19; CP 875, ¶D(7)); and Dalton M abandoned its unjust enrichment claim. (RP 302:21-303:3; CP 763, ¶XXIII.) Accordingly, the bench trial conducted by the trial court in December 2019

focused on Dalton M's slander of title claim, the only contested cause of action.

Unlike quiet title claims, Washington courts allow damage awards in connection with slander of title, including awards for attorney fees incurred in bringing the action. Rorvig v. Douglas, 123 Wn.2d 854, 863, 837 P.2d 492 (1994). However, such a claim requires proof that a defendant "maliciously published" a false statement defeating title to property, and that the publication impacted a "pending sale" of the property that was then lost, resulting in damages. *Id.* at 859. At trial, the Trust challenged Dalton M's ability to establish any of these elements. (See, e.g., CP 627-634, 636-639.) Most pertinent to this Petition, however, the Trust asserted that Dalton M could not prove (1) that a "pending sale" of Parcel **0402** had been derailed by the cloud on title, since Mr. Faulkes admitted that he had never tried to sell the Parcel or (2) that the Trust "maliciously published" false words, given the Trust' evidence that it did not know of the Tax Sale or the loss of its lien on Parcel **0402** prior to Cascade's Foreclosure.

1. The parties litigate whether the Trust "maliciously published," the Trustee's Deed

With regard to the malicious publication element, the Trust's trial witness, Senior Loan Analyst Harrison Whittaker,

provided undisputed testimony at trial that neither the Trust nor any of its agents realized a Tax Sale had foreclosed the lien interest on Parcel 0402 any time prior to Cascade's Foreclosure. (*See, e.g.,* RP at 134-144, 165-167, 176-177, 221-225, 233-234, 263-266, 270-272.) In fact, Ocwen's daily log of information for the Loan reflected no awareness of the Tax Sale until January 24, 2017, well after Cascade's Foreclosure. (RP 134:21-135:11; RP 137:19-25; RP 140:5-14; RP 143:17-25; RP 165:1-4; RP 75:6-10.) Mr. Whittaker testified that had Ocwen been aware of the Tax Sale before the foreclosure, it would not have allowed the foreclosure to proceed as it did. (RP 140:10-14.)

Although Ocwen, as loan servicer, had access to title reports and other information showing that Dalton M owned Parcel 0402 (RP 167:15-202:25; RP 208:24-209:1), Mr. Whittaker explained that this access did not create knowledge on the part of Ocwen or the Trust that the lien on Parcel 0402 had been stripped by a Tax Sale because (1) a change in ownership for property occurs routinely and does not generally strip a lien;² (2) Ocwen's system information only showed

² CP 271:17-272:4. See also Opening Br. at 36-37.

Parcel 9008 as secured by the Trust's Loan, which led to a lack of awareness that another parcel would be impacted by any foreclosure (RP 75:6-10; RP 144:7-22); and (3) although Ocwen and Robinson Tait had title documents regarding the Loan in their possession, they never undertook a general review of all title issues for the Loan, instead relying on Cascade and Trustee Sale Guarantees ("TSGs") obtained to confirm the propriety of Cascade's foreclosure. (RP 225:11-21; RP 168:5-172:6; RP 176:14-19; RP 215:8-217:25; RP 222:8-15; RP 233:1-234:18; Ex. P-13 Bates 525.) TSGs are insurance policies obtained prior to foreclosure, which show the exact title of property to be foreclosed, and which were intended to insure the Trust and Cascade from liability in connection with the foreclosure. (RP 233:24-234:7; Ex. P-13 at Bates 147.) While generally reliable, the TSGs obtained prior to Cascade's Foreclosure were atypical in that they did not provide accurate information about whether Parcel **0402** was still encumbered by the Trust's lien.

2. The Trust never has a fair opportunity to prepare a defense to the unnoticed and irrelevant issue of whether it acted in good faith following the publication of the Trustee's Deed

In addition to litigating the issue of whether the Trust "maliciously published" the Trustee's Deed, Mr. Faulkes complained at trial about the lack of cooperation he obtained from Robinson Tait when he first approached the law firm about clearing title to Parcel **Q4Q2**. Mr. Faulkes' testimony on this issue was presumably offered in an attempt to garner sympathy with the court, since the Trust's conduct during this time was not relevant to any issue in dispute in the case. The only attorney fee theory alleged in Dalton M's complaint and viable at trial was its claim for slander of title (CP 10, ¶ 3), and this claim required only evidence of malice at the time of the slanderous publication, not later. *Rorvig*, 123 Wn.2d at 859. Given Dalton M's complaints about Robinson Tait bore no relevance to any claim before the trial court, the Trust understandably did not respond with a complete defense to these complaints.

Nonetheless, the record indicates that the Trust could have defended a claim that it did not act in good faith upon Dalton M's contact with Robinson Tait, had the matter been properly at issue. The record demonstrates that Robinson Tait

attorneys struggled to resolve Dalton M's title concern because they did not know how to do so without locating a full legal description for Parcel 0402, which neither they or Mr. Faulkes appeared to have. (RP 57:8-12; RP 110:6-18; 115:1-117:14; 118:1-119:15.) Further, although Mr. Faulkes claimed that Robinson Tait represented otherwise, Dalton M's concerns were not properly conveyed to Ocwen or the Trust, nor did Mr. Faulkes ever communicate directly with Ocwen or the Trust. (RP 151:25-155:5.) It also appears that the Trust's laterretained trial counsel believed there were obstacles to curing title due to encroachment on Parcel 0402 by Parcel 9008 (RP 7:9-8:15; RP 57:8-12; RP 110:6-118:13); that Mr. Faulkes at one point attempted to leverage these issues by demanding \$300,000 for his parcel (CP 89); and that Mr. Faulkes later refused to discuss resolution of these issues at all. (CP 150, ¶ 6.) Had the Trust been on notice that the good faith of its conduct following Cascade's Foreclosure was at issue, it might have presented more evidence at trial concerning Dalton M and its counsel's inefficient and obstreperous conduct during the litigation. (See generally Trust's Mar. 9, 2022 Motion for Recon at 5-7.)

While Robinson Tait and the Trust's trial counsel were unable to reach agreement on how to cure title, the Trust *did* attempt to do so. In October 2019, the Trust completed a

request form available through the Spokane County Assessor's Office, requesting a change in how title was reflected in order to remove any cloud on Parcel 0402. (RP 282:7-283:3; RP 286:19-287:17.) The Trust also conceded Dalton M's quiet title action prior to trial (CP 625-626) and stipulated with Dalton M to reform the Trustee's Deed in order to clear title. (CP 875, ¶ D(7); CP 57:2-7; 303:23-304:3.) Dalton M later reneged on this stipulation, however, and ultimately opposed reformation on appeal. (RP 313:6-314:5; Ans. Br. at 10.)

C. Division III Reverses the Trial Court's Slander of Title Judgment, but Affirms an Award of Attorney Fees on an Unplead Theory and Untried Facts

The trial court found in favor of Dalton M on its undisputed quiet title claim and disputed slander of title claim, and also denied the Trust's request for reformation on the grounds that Dalton M did not consent to it. (CP 765-774; 845-846.) Regarding the critical issue of whether a "malicious publication" had occurred as required for a slander of title claim, the trial court inferred from TSGs and other title information available to Ocwen prior to Cascade's Foreclosure that:

"XI. [The Trust's] claim of ownership was made in bad faith as the evidence shows [the Trust] has

been aware of Dalton M's interest in Parcel **Q4Q2** since at least **2Q14**.

XII. [The Trust] maliciously published its false claim of ownership of Parcel **@4@2**.

XIV. The element of malice is met as the slanderous statement was not made in good faith."

(CP 772.) The trial court therefore awarded approximately \$80,000 in attorney fees as special damages. (CP 843-44.)

The Trust appealed (CP 847-867), challenging primarily the trial court's finding that Dalton M established the "malicious publication" or "pending sale" elements of his claim, and also challenging denial of the Trust's request for reformation. (*See generally* Opening Br.) Following completion of the initial briefing on appeal, Division III issued a succinct request to the parties for supplemental briefing on whether Dalton M was entitled to attorney fees on any equitable ground even if Division III reversed the slander of title judgment. (*See* COA Nov. 8, 2021 Order.) Both parties submitted briefing on the issue.

On February 17, 2022, Division III issued an opinion reversing the slander of title judgment due to Dalton M's failure to prove the "pending sale" element of the claim. *Dalton M*, 20 Wn. App. 2d at 914. Nonetheless, Division III joined the trial court in rejecting the Trust's evidence that it lacked malice

during Cascade's Foreclosure on Parcel •4•2. *Id.* at 934-37. Further, Division III concluded that the Trust "continued to act in bad faith when refusing to release its interest to Parcel •4•2 once Dalton M notified the bank of the cloud on title." *Id.* at 937. Based on this unlitigated factual conclusion, Division III found, "[i]n a case of first impression," that an award of attorney fees against the Trust was appropriate on equitable grounds due to the Trust's pre-litigation bad faith conduct. *Id.* The Court acknowledged that Dalton M had never sought attorney fees on equitable grounds in the trial court or on appeal, but nonetheless held that an it had authority to consider a new theory for fees. *Id.* at 941-43.

The 64-page *Dalton M* opinion (App. 1-64) is unusual in numerous respects. Most apparent is the Opinion's needlessly disparaging tone and unnecessary reference to matters not in the record; its astounding departure from typical appellate practice for the sole purpose of allowing recovery to a party who pursued a losing theory of damages; and its lengthy concurrence signed only by the Opinion's author, which confusingly mixes discussion of the parties with outside-the-record examples, from unknown sources, of the horrors of "megacorporations." *Id.* at 964-67 (Fearing, J. concurring). On March 9, 2022, the Trust moved for reconsideration of Division

III's ruling. On July 7, 2022, Division III denied the motion.³ The Trust now petitions this Court for review.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. This Court Should Resolve the Conflict
Between Dalton M and Washington Supreme
Court Precedent concerning what Constitutes a
"Malicious" Publication

Review of *Dalton M* is warranted because Division III's comments about what constitutes a "malicious publication" conflicts with the Washington Supreme Court's articulated standard in *Rorvig v. Douglas*, 123 Wn. 2d 854. While *Rorvig* noted that a malicious publication was one "not made in good faith" or "not prompted by a reasonable belief in its veracity," 23 Wn. 2d at 860, the Court also explained that a finding of "malice" justifying a fee award must consist of "intentional and calculated action," where the defendants "actually know their conduct forces the plaintiff to litigate." *Id.* at 862.

³ The July 7, 2022 denial inexplicably faulted the Trust for failing to bring new facts to Division III's attention and instead directing Division III to items in the record that may have been overlooked. (Order at 1.) RAP 12.4(c) explicitly requires parties moving for reconsideration to "state with particularity the points of law or fact which the moving party contends the court has overlooked or misapprehended " RAP 12.4(c).

In Dalton M, Division III employed a standard of malice that fell short of this, describing the malice standard as requiring "legal malice" rather than "actual malice," 20 Wn. App. 2d at 935, a distinction not supported by Washington law. Leaning on out-of-state authorities, Division III reasoned that "malicious" conduct occurs where a publisher "completely departed from the standards of investigation to which responsible publishers adhere." *Id.* at 935-36 (internal citations to Texas and First Circuit courts omitted). But this language differs from Washington Supreme Court precedent explaining that malice is *not* "measure[d] by asking whether a reasonably prudent person would have published or would have investigated before publishing." Duc Tan v. Le, 177 Wn. 2d 649, 699, 300 P.3d 356, 366 (2013) (citing St. Amant v. *Thompson*, 399 U.S. 727, 731, 88 S. Ct. 1323, 1325 (1968).) Rather, to show malice "[t]here must be sufficient evidence to permit the conclusion that the defendant in fact entertained serious doubts as to the truth of his publication." St. Amant, 399 U.S. at 731. See also Mansfield v. Holcolm, 5 Wash. App. 881, 885, 491 P.2d 672, 675 (1971) (finding no malice where defendant had no "knowledge of falsity in the charges or

entertained any doubt as to their truth.") In other words, there must be evidence of culpable conduct greater than mere negligence. *Centurion Properties III, LLC v. Chicago Title*, 186 Wash.2d 58, 81, 375 P.3d 651 (2016). *See, e.g., Rorvig*, 123 Wn. 2d at 860-61 (noting defendants recorded a document "with full knowledge" that it was incorrect).

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