FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/14/2022 11:34 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

NO. 101149-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III (COA No. 37448-3-III)

DALTON M, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee; NORTH CASCADE TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.; and DOES 1 through 10 inclusive,

Defendant/Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Appeal from Judgment of the Superior Court of Washington, County of Spokane, Civil Case No. 18-2-00755-5 The Honorable John Cooney

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

IV. ARGUMENT AS TO WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

None of the grounds proffered by US Bank under RAP 13.4(b) justifies review by this Court. Though it makes bare citations to the Rule within its Issues Presented section, thereafter US Bank makes little effort to articulate or analyze the RAP 13.4(b) bases upon which discretionary review should be granted by this Court.⁴ Instead, ironically, US Bank dedicates its Petition primarily to lamenting the position it finds itself in as a result of the purportedly unreasonable conduct of Dalton, the trial court, and the Appellate Court.⁵ Fundamentally, this position is not unlike US Bank's approach throughout the litigation; US Bank continues to use the judicial

Motion for Reconsideration.

⁴ Notably, US Bank does not present any new authority for this Court's consideration. Rather, US Bank relies entirely on recycled authority from its previous briefing in this matter. This demonstrates that: (1) contrary to its assertions, US Bank has been presented the opportunity to make its arguments previously and (2) the focus of US Bank's briefing to this Court is a rehashing of its prior arguments, rather than an analysis of the RAP 13.4(b) considerations and whether this Court's review would be appropriate. Ultimately, US Bank's arguments in its Petition are virtually identical to those set forth in its denied

⁵ For instance, US Bank complains of the Appellate Court's "needlessly disparaging tone..." and critique of "megacorporations." *See Petition for Review* at 14.

process in an attempt to justify its indefensible conduct and to avoid any responsibility for a clear and obvious issue of its own making.

a. The Appellate Court Followed Appropriate and Controlling Precedent Relative to Its Determination That a Malicious Publication Took Place in This Matter.

US Bank argues, as it did unsuccessfully at trial, and on appeal, that its actions and more importantly, its inactions, do not constitute malice. US Bank continues to misinterpret or misunderstand the malice standard relative to a slander of title claim, as evidenced in its briefing. However, as correctly applied by the trial court and Appellate Court in this matter, the definition of malice in a slander of title claim is specific and unique. Rorvig v. Douglas, 123 Wn.2d 854, 863-864, 873 P.2d 492 (1994). Malice occurs in slander of title where the "slanderous statement is not made in good faith <u>or</u> is not prompted by a reasonable belief in its veracity." *Id* at 860 (emphasis added). Certainly, intentional acts coupled with undisputed actual knowledge could meet this standard (as was the case in Rorvig). Id. In addition, malice can be established through the exercise of bad faith. For instance, in the subject case, as set forth in the trial court's findings of fact and the Appellate Court's opinion, US Bank acted with malice when it proceeded to foreclose, despite having in its possession multiple documents indicating that Dalton M and/or Mark Faulkes was the owner of Parcel 0402. *Dalton* M, 504 P.3d at 840-845; (CP 772-773). US Bank's (and its agents') failure to review the information, or alternatively, decision to proceed despite the information, in either case, was made in bad faith and/or without a reasonable belief in the veracity of its statements.⁶

US Bank's argument that it did not comprehensively review the documentation in its possession (despite evidence to the contrary) does not serve to negate US Bank's malice. Willful blindness or intentional ignorance does not eliminate liability – where the information is there to be seen, acting in a detrimental and contrary manner is clearly acting in bad faith and without a reasonable belief in the veracity of the statement. *New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 US 254, 84 S. Ct. 710 (1964) (where a defendant acts with reckless disregard of the

⁶ In its Petition, US Bank utilizes the malice standard for public figure defamation, citing *Duc Tan v. Le* for the proposition that the malice standard was improperly applied in the subject case. *Duc Tan v. Le*, 177 Wn.2d 649, 699, 300 P.3d 356 (2013). Even viewed through the lens of the more stringent actual malice standard (which is a significantly heightened standard and not correctly applied to a slander of title claim), US Bank would be liable here. "A defendant acts with malice when he knows the statement is false **or** recklessly disregards its probable falsity." *Id citing New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 279–80, 84 S.Ct. 710 (1964) (emphasis added). Where US Bank and its agents had within their possession ample documentation (including title reports, specifically ordered to address potential title issues; information from the Spokane County Assessor showing ownership status of the two parcels at issue; and chain of title "due diligence" all spanning *years* prior to the 2016 wrongful foreclosure) US Bank clearly acted with reckless disregard to the probably falsity of its statements when it proceeded with its foreclosure and the publications related thereto in 2016 in spite of the same. *See supra* for further analysis of the malice standard.

probable falsity of his statements, he acts with malice). *Margoles v. Hubbart*, 111 Wash.2d 195, 200, 760 P.2d 324 (1988) (Malice can be inferred from circumstantial evidence, including failure to properly investigate). *Valdez-Zontek v. Eastmont School Dist.*, 154 Wn. App. 147, 225 P.3d 339, 349 (2010) (Reckless disregard for truth or falsity is the equivalent of the actual malice requirement).

Further, after the wrongful foreclosure was unquestionably brought to its attention, repeatedly, US Bank did nothing (absent proffering empty promises of resolution), which subsequently forced Dalton to institute this litigation. *Dalton* M, 504 P.3d at 858-859. Again, acting in bad faith and epitomizing the circumstances for which the bad faith equitable exception to the American Rule was created. *Id* at 857-858.

Both the trial court and the Appellate Court appropriately and properly concluded US Bank met the malicious publication element of slander of title, consistent with applicable precedent. As such, no RAP 13.4(b) consideration permits review of the Appellate Court's decision with regard to malicious publication.

b. The Appellate Court Acted Properly and Within Its Discretion When Applying RAP 12.1(b). Further, US Bank Raises No Issue(s) of Substantial Public Import in its Petition.

It is undeniable that this case discusses a topic of substantial public interest. Specifically, the Appellate Court created clearer guidance for

both consumers and corporations relative to the application of the existing prelitigation bad faith exception. *Dalton* M, 504 P.3d at 850-859. As noted in *Dalton* M, "the American rule seeks to promote the cause of the poor, who might be unjustly discouraged from instituting actions to vindicate their rights if the penalty for losing included the fees of their opponents' counsel." *Id* at 857 citing *Fleischmann Distilling Corp. v. Maier Brewing Co.*, 386 U.S. 714, 718 (1967). "This rationale does not apply when the fee shifting rule operates only against one side. The cause of the poor is advanced, not hindered, by a ruling in favor of Dalton M." *Id* at 857. The Appellate Court's opinion in *Dalton M* is a positive step forward for access to our court systems, completely in comport with the intent of the American Rule, and in favor of the ordinary citizen in Washington. *Id*.

Nevertheless, the mere fact that an issue of public import exists in this case does not make it ripe for this Court's review. Instead, RAP 13.4(b)(4) requires the "petition involve[] an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4) (emphasis added). RAP 13.4(b)(4) clearly provides the most subjective consideration under which this Court may permit discretionary review. Here, however, US Bank's Petition asserts that the issue of substantial public interest, which warrants review of this matter, is a deprivation of US Bank's due process rights as a result of the Appellate Court's use and application of

RAP 12.1(b). *Petition for Review* at 18. This assertion is without factual or legal merit. *See RAP 12.1(b) analysis Infra*.

Because US Bank's Petition for Review does not include "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court" as required, this Court should not entertain review of the matter on such a basis. *RAP 13.4(b)(4)*. Nevertheless, assuming *arguendo*, that this Court interpreted US Bank's Petition to raise the issue of public interest that *does* exists in this case (as discussed above), the same was determined in comport with precedent and in accordance with applicable Court Rules; leaving no need for this Court to intervene or provide review.

Finally, US Bank's contention that the Appellate Court exceeded its authority under RAP 12.1(b), and thus violated US Bank's right to due process, is wholly unsupported by the Court Rules and applicable case law. For decades it has been clearly established that the appellate rules permit the applicable court to raise issues not briefed by the parties. *RAP* 12.1(b). In fact, this Court "ha[s] repeatedly held that RAP 12.1(b) means exactly what it says: this court may raise issues sua sponte and may rest its decision thereon." *Greengo v. Pub. Employees Mut. Ins. Co.*, 135 Wn. 2d

799, 813 (1998) (En Banc). Further, as is typical, but not required, the Appellate Court requested supplemental briefing of the parties, thus allowing both parties to fully address the issues raised and thereby eliminating any perceived prejudice. *State v. Aho*, 137 Wn. 2d 736, 741, 975 P.2d 512 (1999). Finally, contrary to US Bank's assertions, bad faith has been an integral part of this litigation, from discovery, through trial, and continuing throughout the appeal. *See*, *e.g. Supra Pg. 1, n.1; Pg. 3-8*.

In short, the Appellate Court's use of RAP 12.1(b) does not create or support any RAP 13.4(b) basis under which this Court could review the *Dalton M* decision.

c. The Appellate Court Correctly Analyzed Existing Precedent and Appropriately Applied Available Case Law When Determining That US Bank Engaged in Pre-Litigation Bad Faith and Further, That Equitable Relief Was Available to Dalton Based on US Bank's Conduct.

The Appellate Court's opinion in *Dalton M* is consistent with case law in Washington State, which has recognized prelitigation bad faith as a viable exception to the American Rule for many decades. *See, e.g. In re Recall of Pearsall-Stipek,* 136 Wash.2d 255, 267, 961 P.2d 343 (1998); *State ex. rel. Macri v. City of Bremerton,* 8 Wash.2d 93, 105, 111 P.2d 612

15

⁷ See also, *Obert v. Environmental Research & Development Corp.* 112 Wn. 2d 323, 333 (1989) (This Court was dismissive of defendant's assertion that it "should not entertain a legal argument not raised at the trial court or Court of Appeals" and held that RAP 12.1(b) "would be rendered meaningless" by virtue of such a ruling.)

(1941); *State v. S.H.*, 95 Wash.App. 741, 977 P.2d 621 (1999). As such, this Court's review is not warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

First, the Appellate Court undertook a painstaking and thorough analysis with respect to this Court's opinion in *Maytown*, including those cases relied upon by this Court in Maytown. Dalton M, 504 P.3d at 851-859. In so doing, the Appellate Court carefully reviewed the history of the American Rule, bad faith as an exception thereto, and how various courts (including this Court) have applied bad faith exceptions over the course of time. Id. Specifically, the Appellate Court recognized this Court's holding in *Maytown* and understood the distinction between the facts in *Maytown* and the facts in *Dalton* M, noting the *Maytown* case arose from an administrative process, not "an obstinate refusal to respect a valid claim that forced the plaintiff to file suit." *Id* at 855.8 After its comprehensive nine-page analysis regarding "the prevailing American view on fees...and the policies behind denying or awarding reasonable attorney fees in various situations...", the Appellate Court concludes, "a plaintiff may recover fees incurred because of the defendant's prelitigation bad faith refusal to recognize the plaintiff's indisputable claim and forcing the

-

⁸ The Appellate Court also specifically noted its obligation to follow the precedent of *Maytown* in its analysis, stating "because we are subordinate and subservient to the Washington Supreme Court, we must respect *Maytown Sand & Gravel, LLC v. Thurston County.*" *Dalton M*, 504 P.3d at 855.

plaintiff to file suit." *Id* at 858. The Appellate Court's opinion correctly analyzed the existing precedent and appropriately applied the same to the facts in *Dalton M*, providing guidance with respect to the narrow circumstances in which prelitigation bad faith attorney's fees are recoverable. *Id*.

In addition, US Bank attempts to point this Court to a conflict between Division I precedent (*Greenbank Beach*) and *Dalton M*, where none exists. Pointedly, in *Greenbank Beach*, the defendants advanced several unsuccessful arguments at trial. *See generally, Greenbank Beach and Boat Club v. Bunney*, 168 Wn. App. 517, 280 P.3d 1133 (2012) (Specifically, defendants argued abandonment by selective enforcement and unclear method of measurement cause the height restrictions within the HOA to be inapplicable). However, "significantly, the trial court did not find that the [defendant's] losing arguments were frivolous." *Id* at 1139. As such, the court in *Greenbank* concluded "litigants are not ordinarily required to pay attorney fees for making losing arguments." *Id*.

While as a general rule, this is perhaps true, the facts of *Dalton M* are substantially distinct; US Bank did not proffer losing (but potentially meritorious) arguments relative to the status of Dalton's title. Rather, it forced Dalton into litigation only to concede the issue at the conclusion of

trial without any argument at all. 9 "Dalton M possessed an undisputable right to clear title, while US Bank forced Dalton M to come to court to clear title." *Dalton M*, 504 P.3d at 858. "US Bank never disputed that it should lift the cloud to title...nevertheless, its answer denied that Dalton M was entitled to any relief." *Id.* "...US Bank forced Dalton M to filed suit to enforce its rights only to concede at trial that Dalton M was entitled to relief." *Id* at 859.

Additionally, in a recent opinion from Division I, the court, relying heavily on its opinion in *Greenbank*, once again acknowledges, "bad faith can warrant a claim for attorney fees" particularly where the claim arises out of one of five causes of action, including "slander of title," as here. *Universal Life Church Monastery v. R.L.K., LLC*, No. 80505-3-I, at 5 (Div. I, 2021) (Unpublished). Division I recognized that, through *Rorvig*, this Court "added slander of title to [the] short list" of claims which create an avenue for "bad faith prelitigation misconduct attorney fees" because "attorney fees incurred in removing the cloud from the title and restoring the vendibility are necessary expenses of counteracting the effects of slander." *Id* at 7, citing *Rorvig*.

-

⁹ Ultimately, amounting to a frivolous defense.

While the Appellate Court here found the "pending purchase or sale" element of slander unmet, the remainder of the claim (most importantly, malicious publication) was proven. Dalton M, 504 P.3d at 846. Therefore, those components of a slander of title action that justify the equitable exception to the American Rule are present in subject case. *Id* at 858-859. Attorney's fees are permitted in a slander of title action as equitable relief, because the bad faith of the defendant necessitates the litigation. Rorvig, 123 Wn.2d at 861-862. It is by application of this same logic that fees are permitted on the equitable basis of prelitigation bad faith. ¹⁰ The Appellate Court's decision in *Dalton M* is further supported by the grant of attorney's fees at the trial court level, which arose as a form of equitable relief, permitted specifically to counterbalance US Bank's bad faith. Dalton M, 504 P.3d at 843-844, See also, Rorvig, 123 Wn. 2d 854. As the Appellate Court reasoned, a ruling in favor of Dalton M is congruent with both the underlying purpose of the American rule and the equitable exceptions thereto. Dalton M, 504 P.3d at 850-859.

The *Dalton M* opinion is mindful of, and consistent with, Washington Supreme Court and published Appellate Court precedent.

-

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